
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 

James Barton II, Esq. 
Torres Law Group 
2239 West Baseline Road 
Tempe, AZ 85283 

FEB 1 5 2017 

RE: MUR 7041 
United Association of Journeymen and 

Apprentices of the Plumbing and 
Pipefitting Industry of the United States 
and Canada Local 469 

United Association of Plumbers and 
Pipefitters Local 469 Federal Political 
Action Committee (Arizona Pipe Trades 
Fed. PAC) and Aaron Butler in his official 
capacity as treasurer 

Arizona Pipe Trades Local 469 and Aaron 
Butler in his official capacity as treasurer 

Dear Mr. Barton: 

On April 20 and July 21, 2016, the Federal Election Commission (the "Commission") 
notified your clients, the United Association of Journeymen and Apprentices of the Plumbing 
and Pipefitting Industry of the United States and Canada Local 469 ("Local 469"), the United 
Association of Plumbers and Pipefitters Local 469 Federal Political Action Committee (Arizona 
Pipe Trades Fed. PAC) and Aaron Butler in his official capacity as treasurer, and Arizona Pipe 
Trades Local 469 and Aaron Butler in his official capacity as treasurer ("Arizona State PAC") of 
a complaint alleging that they violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended 
(the "Act"). At that time, we provided your clients with copies of the complaint. 

After reviewing the allegations contained in the complaint, your responses, and publicly 
available information, the Commission on February 9,2017, found reason to believe that your 
clients. Local 469 and Arizona Pipe Trades Fed. PAC, violated 52 U.S.C. § 30118(b)(3)(C), a 
provision of the Act, and 11 C.F.R. § 114.5(aXl)-(2) and (4)-(5). The Commission also voted to 
dismiss allegations that yoiir clients. Local 469 and Arizona State PAC, violated 52 U.S.C. 
§ 30103 and 11 C.F.R. § 102.1(c) by failing to timely register as a federal political committee. 
The Commission cautions your clients, Local 469 and Arizona State PAC, to take steps to ensure 
compliance with the Act and Commission regulations. Enclosed is the Factual and Legal 
Analysis that sets forth the basis for the Commission's determinations. 
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Please note that you have a legal obligation to preserve all documents, records, and 
materials relating to this matter xmtil such time as you are notified that the Commission has 
closed its file in this matter. See 18 U.S.C. § 1519. 

In order to expedite the resolution of this matter, the Commission has authorized the 
Office of the General Counsel to enter into negotiations directed towards reaching a conciliation 
agreement in settlement of this matter prior to a finding of probable cause to believe. Pre-
probable cause conciliation is not mandated by the Act or the Commission's regulations, but is a 
voluntary step in the enforcement process that the Commission is offering to your clients. Local 
469 and Arizona Pipe Trades Fed. PAC, as a way to resolve this matter at an early stage and 
without the need for briefing the issue of whether or not the Commission should find probable 
cause to believe that your clients violated the law. 

If your clients. Local 469 and Arizona Pipe Trades Fed. PAC, are interested in engaging 
in pre-probable cause conciliation; please contact Shanna Reulbach, the attorney assigned to this 
matter, at (202) 694-1638 or (800) 424-9530, within seven days of receipt of this letter. During 
conciliation, you may submit any factual or legal materials that you believe are relevant to the 
resolution of this matter. Because the Commission only enters into pre-probable cause 
conciliation in matters that it believes have a reasonable opportunity for settlement, we may 
proceed to the next step in the enforcement process if a mutually acceptable conciliation 
agreement cannot be reached within sixty days. See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a), 11 C.F.R. Part 111 
(Subpart A). Conversely, if your clients are not interested in pre-probable cause conciliation, the 
Commission may conduct formal discovery in this matter or proceed to the next step in the 
enforcement process. Please note that once the Commission enters the next step in the 
enforcement process, it may decline to engage in further settlement discussions until after making 
a probable cause finding. . 
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In the meantime, this matter will remain confidential in accordance with 52 U.S.C. 
§ 30109(a)(4)(B) and 30109(a)(12)(A) unless you notify the Commission in writing that you 
wish the matter be made public. Please be advised that, although the Commission cannot 
disclose information regarding an investigation to the public, it may share information on a 
confidential basis with other law enforcement agencies.' 

We look forward to your response. 

On behalf of the Commission, 

i Chair 

1 Enclosures 
£ Factual and Legal Analysis 

' The Commission has the statutory authority to refer knowing and willful violations of the Act to the 
Department of Justice for potential criminal prosecution, 52 U.S.C. § 30I09(a)(S)(C), and to report information 
regarding violations of law not within its jurisdiction to appropriate law enforcement authorities. Id. § 30107(aX9). 
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1 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
2 
3 FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 
4 
5 Respondents: United Association of Journeymen and MUR: 7041 
6 Apprentices of the Plumbing and 
7 Pipefitting Industry of the United 
8 States and Canada Local 469. 
9 

10 United Association of Plumbers and 
11 Pipefitters Local 469 Federal Political 
12 Action Committee (Arizona Pipe Trades 
13 Fed. PAC) and Aaron Butler in his 
14 official capacity as treasurer 
15 
16 1. INTRODUCTION 

17 The Complaint in this matter makes two principal allegations against the United 

18 Association of Journeymen and Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipefitting Industry of the 

19 United States and Canada Local 469 ("Local 469") and three connected political committees 

20 ("PACs"), including a state-registered PAC, a current federal PAC, and a now-terminated federal 

21 PAC. First, it alleges that Local 469's state committee triggered federal political committee 

22 status in 2011, but failed to register or file disclosure reports with the Federal Election 

23 Commission (the "Commission") at that time.' Second, the Complaint contends that Local 469 

24 and its three committees have coercively solicited contributions from members since at least 

25 2011.2 

Compl. at 5 (Apr. 13,2016). 

^ /d. at 5-18. The Complaint makes a third allegation that a lawyer and consultant for l^cal 469, Israel G. 
Torres, and the treasurers of each respondent committee "participated in a scheme to transfer illegally coerced 
member contributions made to the Plumbers Local 469 PACs, to PACs controlled by Israel G. Torres." Id. at 18. 
The Complaint continues that once Local 469 member contributions "are in the hands of [] Torres and his PACs, 
those funds can be, and were used, any way Israel G. Torres saw and continues to see fit, and without any authority, 
oversight or supervision by the members of Plumbers Local 469 and with very limited public disclosure." Id. 

On its face, this information, does not appear to state a violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as 
amended (the "Act"), and to apply any portion of the Act or Commission regulations would require the Commission 
to speculate as to facts not currently part of the record. 
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1 Our review indicates that, even if Local 469's state committee triggered federal political 

2 committee status in 2011 and failed to timely register or report with the Commission, for the 

3 reasons discussed below, the claim does not merit use of additional Commission resources. The 

4 Commission therefore disthisses the allegation as a matter of prosecutorial discretion. 

5 However, the present record also indicates that, since at least 2011, Local 469 and its 

6 political committees have coerced union members to make contributions through various means. 

4 7 Therefore, the Commission finds reason to believe the Local and its current federal committee 
4 

8 violated 52 U.S.C. § 30118(b)(3) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.5(a). 

9 II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS 

10 A. Local 469's Arizona State PAC Likely Failed to Timely Register and Report 
11 as a Federal Political Committee, but Such Failures Do Not Merit Use of 
12 Additional Commission Resources at This Time 

13 Local 469 is a labor organization affiliated with the United Association of Journeymen 

14 and Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipefitting Industry of the United States and Canada.^ The 

15 Local maintains separate segregated funds ("SSFs") for the purpose of engaging in federal and 

16 non-federal political activity and has registered at least three connected political committees in 

17 recent years.^ 

18 The first of these committees, known as Arizona Pipe Trades 469 ("Arizona State PAC"), 

19 has been registered with the Arizona Secretary of State as an Arizona political action committee 

' Id. at 2; see also Amended Statement of Org., Local Union No. 469 of the United Association of 
Journeymen and Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipefitting Industry of the U.S. & Canada PAC (Arizona Pipe 
Trades Local 469 PAC) (Sept. 10,2012), http://docqueiy.fec.gov/pdf/834/l2952875834/12952875834.pdf 
(amending Statements of Org. filed Apr. 5,2012 and July 19,2012). 

^ Resp. at 1-2 (May 17,2016); Compl. at 2-3. 
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1 since 1991} The Complaint alleges that the Arizona State PAG triggered federal committee 

2 status in 2011 by raising and spending money to influence federal elections and identifies five 

3 contributions to federal candidates that the Arizona State PAG reported to the Arizona Secretary 

4 of State between 2011 and.2014.^ The Complaint also states that in 2011, the union 

5 implemented a new payroll deduction authorization ("check off') form that asks members to 

^ 6 authorize contributions "[s]o that the common interests of Local 469 members ... can be heard 

4 7 by state politicians."^ 

8 The Act and Commission regulations provide that any SSF established under 52 U.S.C. 

9 § 30118(b) is a political committee,® and that any SSF shall register with the Commission within 

10 10 days after establishment, except where the SSF is established solely for the purpose of 

11 financing political activity in connection with state or local elections.' An SSF formed 

12 exclusively for the purpose of participating in state and local elections is not required to register 

13 with the Commission; however, if at any time the connected organization decides to use the SSF, 

14 wholly or in part, to influence federal elections, it must register with the Commission within ten 

15 days of the decision to do so." When an organization finances both federal.and non-federal 

^ Search Results for Arizona Pipe Trades 469, ARIZ. SEC. OF STATE, http://apps.azsos.gov/ 
apps/eiection/cfs/search/AdvancedSearch.aspx (listing Aug. 29, 1991 as committee registration date). 
' Compl. at S and Ex. I. The Conunission has identified an additional eleven contributions to federal 
candidates disclosed on the Arizona State PAC's state reports between 2011 and 2014. See Search Results for 
Arizona Pipe Trades, ARIZ. SEC. OF STATE, http://apps.azsos.gov/apps/election/cfs/search/CommitteeSearch.aspx 
(showing that, on Schedule E3, Contributions to Other Committees, the Arizona State PAC reported sixteen total 
contributions to federal candidate committees during the 2012 and 2014 election cycles). 
^ Compl. Exs. 3-4 (emphasis added); see also infra Part ll.B (further describing the solicitation contained in 
Local 469's payroll deduction authorization form). 
« 52 U.S.C. § 30I0I(4)(B); 11 C.F.R. § 100.5(b). 
' 52 U.S.C. § 30103; 11 C.F.R § 102.1(c). 

11 C.F.R. § 102.1(c) ("Examples of establishment events after which a fund would be required to register 
include, but are not limited to: A vote by the board of directors or comparable governing body of an organization to 
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i 
I 

political activity, it may use separate accounts for each type of activity" or a single account for 

both. If the organization elects to use a single account, all contributions received are subject to 

the limits and prohibitions of the Act, regardless of the purpose for which they are used." 

The Respondents acknowledge that the Arizona State PAC made contributions to federal 

candidates, but assert that the committee was concurrently registered and reporting with the 

Commission. Respondents explain that, beginning in 2012, Local 469 sought to expand the 

Arizona State PAC's activities to include federal contributions.'^ At that time, the Arizona State 

8 PAC registered as a federal political conunittee known as Arizona Pipe Trades Local 469 PAC 

9 ("Arizona Pipe Trades Federal PAC")" to comply with the Act and Commission regulations.'^ 

10 The Arizona State PAC remained registered in Arizona and continued to engage in non-federal 

11 activity." Thus, during this period, the Local used a single account — known at the state level 

12 as the Arizona State PAC and at the federal level as the Arizona Pipe Trades Federal PAC — to 

13 simultaneously engage in federal and non-federal activity. During this period of dual 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

create a [SSF] to be used wholly or in part for federal elections"); Advisory Op. 1985-18 at 2-3 (Michigan Auto 
Club PAC) ("AO 1985-18") (opining that an SSF previously used exclusively for non-federal political activity could 
expand its operations to include federal political activity, provided that: (1) the combined state/federal SSF 
registered as a federal political committee within 10 days of the decision to influence federal elections and before 
making any federal contributions; and (2) all contributions the SSF received complied with the limits and 
prohibitions of the Act). 

. 11 C.F.R. § I02.5(a)(i). 
11 C.F.R. § 102.5(a)(ii). 

Id. 
Resp. at 1-2. 
Statement of Org., Arizona Pipe Trades Local 469 PAC (Apr. 5,2012), 

http://docquery.fec.gOv/pdfll96/12030763l96/12030763I96.pdf, (amended July 19,2012 and Sept. 10,2012). 
See 11 C.F.R. §§ 102.1(c). 102.5(a)(ii). 
Under Arizona state law, an SSF established by a labor organization for political purposes is a state 

political committee and must register with the Secretary of State as such if it intends to receive contributions or 
make expenditures of more than S500, ARIZ. REV. STAT. §§ l6-90l(20)(b), 16-902.02, even if the SSF is registered 
in another state or pursuant to federal law, see ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 16-902.02. 

http://docquery.fec.gOv/pdfll96/12030763l96/12030763I96.pdf
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1 registration," the SSF accepted only contributions subject to the limits and prohibitions of the 

2 Act," and appears to have reported all activity to both the Arizona Secretary of State and the 

3 Commission.^® 

4 Respondents acknowledge that even under this timeline, one of the contributions 

5 identified by the Complaint — $500 given to Kirkpatrick for Arizona on June 15,2011 — was 

^ 6 made before the Arizona State PAC registered as a federal committee in April 2012.^' However, 

4 7 Respondents state that when the Arizona State PAC became aware that it may have triggered 

^ 8 federal political committee status by doing so, it "immediately" requested a refund from 

9 Kirkpatrick for Arizona.^ An exhibit attached to the Response shows that Kirkpatrick for 

10 Arizona issued a refund on January 19,2012, which the SSF received on January 30,2012.^^ 

11 Given these facts, it is not worth the Commission's resources to pursue this allegation 

12 further. At the outset, the statute of limitations would have expired on the Arizona State 

The Arizona State PAC terminated its federal registration on January IS, 20IS but continues to operate as 
an Arizona political committee.- Termination Approval, Arizona Pipe Trades Local 469 PAC (Jan. IS, 201S), 
http://docqucry.fec.gOv/pdf7l96/lS330072l96/IS33G072l96.pdf. Seven months later, on August 14,20IS, Local 
469 registered its third committee, a new connected federal political committee known as the United Association of 
Plumbers and Pipefitters Local 469 Federal PAC ("Arizona Pipe Trades Fed PAC"). Statement of Organization, 
United Association of Plumbers and Pipefitters Local 469 Federal Political Action Committee (Arizona Pipe Trades 
Fed PAC) (Aug. 14,201S), http://docqueiy.fec.gOv/pdf/S12/201S0814900082SS12y201S0814900082SS12.pdf. The 
new federal committee is operated out of a separate account, pursuant to 11 C.F.R. § 102.S(a)(i). 

'» II C.F.R.§ l02.S(a)(l)(ii). 

^ All of the SSF's federal contributions in the 2012 and 2014 cycles were reported to both the Arizona 
Secretary of State and the Commission. It is not possible to compare all contributions that the committee reported 
receiving, as Arizona and the Commission have different itemization thresholds; however the total amounts that 
each committee reported receiving appear to be approximately equal, as do the total expenditures each reported. 

" Resp.at2-3. 
» Id. 

" Id Ex. 1. 

See 52 U.S.C. § 30104(a)(4). The Complaint also alleges that the Arizona Pipe Trades Federal PAC also 
failed to update its treasurer of record when the treasurer of the conunittee, Phillip McNally, resigned his position as 
business manager of Local 469 in July 2014. Compl. at 4. Complainant believes that the Local's new business 
manager, Aaron Butler, should have designated as Ueasurer of the committee at that time. Id. However, the 

http://docqucry.fec.gOv/pdf7l96/lS330072l96/IS33G072l96.pdf
http://docqueiy.fec.gOv/pdf/S12/201S0814900082SS12y201S0814900082SS12.pdf
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1 PAC's failure to register as a federal political committee on June 15,2016.^^ And although 

2 violations of the quarterly reporting requirements remain, the state committee registered with the 

3 Commission roughly nine months later, made no other fhderal contributions in the intervening 

4 period, and disclosed all of its transactions to the public via its registration as the Arizona State 

5 PAC and its diisclosures to the Arizona Secretary of State. The Commission therefore dismisses 

6 as a matter of prosecutorial discretion the allegation that Local 469 and the Arizona State PAC 

7 violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30103 and 30104(a) and 11 C.F.R § 102.1(c). 

8 B. Local 469 Coercively Solicited Member Contributions to Its Separate 
9 Segregated Fund Throng Various Means 

10 The Complaint further alleges that Local 469 and its conunittees have coercively solicited 

11 contributions from union members since at least 2011. According to the Complaint, 

12 Respondents made coercive solicitations by: (1) threatening reprisal against non-contributors in a 

13 union magazine; (2) using a check-off form that lacked sufficient notices to ensure the 

14 voluntariness of member contributions; and (3) maintaining a non-contributor list that was 

15 displayed at union meetings where verbal solicitations were made.^' 

16 The Act and Commission regulations prohibit labor organizations from making 

17 contributions in connection with a federal election.^^ A labor organization may establish an SSF 

18 for the purpose of engaging in federal political activity,^' but the labor organization may only 

Complaint presents no information to indicate that McNally did not continue to fulfill the duties of committee 
treasurer after he resigned as business manager of the union. Indeed, the committee's reports continued to bear 
McNally's name and signature until its termination in January 201S. 
« 52 U.S.C.§ 30145. 

^ Compl.at5. 
" 52 U.S.C. § 30118(a): 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b). 
" 52 U.S.C. § 30118(bX2)(c). 
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1 solicit contributions to the SSF from members and their families.^^ All such contributions must 

2 be voluntary,and the SSF may not make contributions or expenditures using "money or 

3 anything of value secured by physical force, job discrimination, financial reprisals, or the threat 

4 of force, Job discrimination, or financial repnsal; or by dues, fees, or other monies required as a 

5 condition of membership."^' 

6 In addition, the Act and Commission regulations require persons soliciting contributions 

7 to inform members at the time of the solicitation of the political puiposes of the SSF and of the 

8 member's right to refuse to contribute without reprisal.^^ Further, if the labor organization 

9 suggests an amount to be contributed, the solicitation must also state that the guideline is merely 

10 a suggestion and that the individual is free to contribute more or less.^^ A solicitation may be 

11 considered coercive if proper notices are not given.^^ 

12 The Commission has previously applied these provisions to union check-off forms, and 

13 endorsed sample luiguage that conforms with the "right to refuse"^^ and "suggested 

14 contribution"^^ requirements. It has also applied these requirements to non-contributor lists. For 

" 52 U.S.C. § 30118(b)(4)(A)(ii). 
52 U.S.C. § 30118(b)(3)(A); 11 C.F.R. § 114.5(a). 

'' 52 U.S.C. § 30118(b)(3)(A); 11 C.F.R. § 114.5(a). 
52 U.S.C. § 30118(b)(3)(B)-(C); 11 C.F.R. § I l4.5(a)(3)-(4). 

" II C.F.R.§ 114.5(aX2). 
Conciliation Agreement at ^7, MUR 5337 (First Nat'l Consumers Bank) ("A solicitation can also be 

coercive if proper notice is not given."). 
Advisory Opinion 2006-17 (Berkeley Electric Cooperative) ("AO 2006-17"). In that opinion, the 

Commission approved a sample checkoff card that; (I) asked members to affirm that they "voluntarily donate"; (2) 
contained a blank check box that allowed a member to choose "1 elect not to participate at this time"; (3) and stated 
"I am also fully aware that should 1 elect not to participate 1 may do so without any concern of retaliation." 

Id The sample card in AO 2006-17 also contained suggested contribution amounts, clearly labeled them 
"recommended amounts per pay period" and explicitly stated "[t]he recommended contribution amounts listed 
above are merely suggestions. Employees may choose to give more or less than those stated. [Requestor] will not 
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1 example, in MUR S681 (High Point Association of Realtors), the Commission found that a trade 

2 association violated the Act and Commission regulations by publishing in its monthly newsletter 

3 a list of members who had "not yet" contributed to its political committee with the words "Have 

4 you made vour contribution?"^^ The Commission stated that, when paired with a solicitation, a 

5 non-contributor list violates the Act and Commission regulations by failing to include the 

6 appropriate notices to ensure the voluntariness of contributions.^^ However, in at least one other 

7 matter, the Commission has indicated that, even when a solicitation and non-contributor list is 

8 subsequently supplemented by the notices required in 11 C.F.R. § 114.5(a)(2)-(4), the notices 

9 may not be sufficient to cure the implied threat of job discrimination or reprisal inherent in a 

^ 10 solicitation paired with a non-contributor list.^^ 

11 The Complaint first alleges that the Local coerced member contributions by threatening 

12 job discrimination against non-contributors. It states that, in the summer of 2011, Phillip 

13 McNally, then-business manager of the Local and treasurer of the Arizona State PAC, wrote an 

14 article in a magazine distributed by the Local. In the article, McNally stated "the PAC 

15 contribution has changed to 0.7S% and the new forms will reflect that change. Please be sure to 

favor nor disfavor employees according to pledged donations." The card also provided a blank space for employees 
to write in the exact amount they wished to contribute. 

Factual & Legal Analysis at 1-2, MUR 5681 (High Point Assn. of Realtors). This matter also included 
allegations that the trade association regularly displayed the names of non-contributing members on an overhead 
projector at its monthly and annual meetings. First Gen. Counsel's Rpt., MUR 5681. However, the Commission 
ultimately made, no finding with respect to that conduct. 

Factual & Legal Analysis, MUR 5681 (High Point Assn. of Realtors); MUR 5337 (First Consumers Nat'I. 
Bank) (concluding that an employer's written solicitation that included a noncontributory list was coercive, in part 
because it failed to include notice of recipients' right to refuse to contribute and notice that the recommended S50 
contribution was merely a suggestion and that individuals were free to contribute more or less). 

MUR 5379 (CarePlus Medical Centers) (concluding that an employer's solicitation that requested "an 
accounting of the individuals that donate and those that did not" was coercive, despite the employer's subsequent 
statement that employees "may refuse to contribute without reprisal and contributions... are strictly volunt^"). 
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1 complete a new form by July 1 or your standing as a member of the local may be 

2 jeopardized."^** It continues, "the PAC contribution has been increased from $0.03 per hour to 

3 0.75% per hour. It is obvious the majority of our local supports this increase and our ability to 

4 create any future success for you and your families through political action rests with each 

5 and every member participating by signing the PAC check-off.'"" Respondents note that, at 

6 the time of the magazine article, the SSF was only engaged in non-federal activity "thus to the 

7 extent this newsletter article is a solicitation, it was not for a federal political committee.'"*^ 

8 In making these statements, the Local suggests that political contributions are a condition 

9 of membership and threatens job discrimination against those who do not authorize payroll 

10 deductions to the SSF. Based on Commission precedent, such conduct may be considered 

11 coercive particularly where solicitations lack appropriate notices to ensure voluntary 

12 contributions. However, the newsletter that included this statement was distributed in "Summer 

13 2011," and the applicable statute of limitations prevents the Commission from pursuing this 

14 allegation, as the activity occurred over five years ago. Moreover, as Respondents note, the 

15 newsletter was distributed potentially before the SSF was a federal political committee, which 

16 would render the conduct outside the Commission's jurisdiction."*^ 

17 The Complaint next alleges that the Local coerced member contributions by failing to 

18 include the appropriate notices on a check-off form used by union members to authorize the 

Compl. Ex. 2 (emphasis in original). 

Id. (emphasis in original). 

" Resp. at 4. 

Respondents argue that the date of publication is significant because at the time, "the SSF was operating a 
QSLPO and thus to the extent this newsletter article is a solicitation, it was not for a federal political committee." 
Resp. at 4. As noted above, however, the SSF appears to have triggered federal political committee status in June 
2011. 
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1 deduction of SSF contributions from members' paychecks/" According to the Complainant, 

2 who is a union member, the Local adopted the current language on its check-off form in 2011 

3 He submits copies of the check-off form that he signed in 2014 and 201S,"^ and states that this is 

4 the same form that the Local has distributed to all members "for the past several years.""' Under 

5 the heading "Local 469 Political Action Committee," the check-off form states: 

^6 So that the common interests of Local 469 members to secure jobs, 
0 7 fair wages and safe working conditions can be heard by state and 
4 8 federal politicians, 1 voluntarily authorize and direct the above-
4 9 named employer and any signatory to the Arizona Area Pipe 
4 10 Trades Agreement for whom I work to deduct the suggested 0.75% 
? 11 (.0075), as ratified by Local 469 membership, each week fram my 
4 12 pay for transfer to the Local 469 Political Action Committee."* 

^ 13 The Complaint asserts that this language lacks the notices required on SSF solicitations to 

14 ensure that contributions are voluntary."' Specifically, it alleges that the Local's check-off form 

15 does not satisfy the Act and regulations' requirements because it fails to state: (1) that the 0.75% 

16 contribution guideline is a suggestion and that the individual is free to contribute more or less; 

17 and (2) that an individual has the right to refuse to make a contribution.^' Respondents deny the 

18 allegations. They note that the check-off form identifies the 0.75% guideline as a "suggested" 

Attachment 1; Compl. Exs. 3-4. 
Compl. at 5. 
Id. Exs. 3-4. 

« ld.iX6. 

« Id. Exs. 3-4 
« /4. at 6-8. 

Id. at 7. The Complaint also alleges that the check-ofT solicitation fails to state the political purposes of the 
SSF, as it does not inform members that contributions may be allocated to either the Local's state or federal PAC or 
any indication of how contributions will be allocated. Id. There does not appear to be any Commission precedent 
supporting the Complainant's contention that the Local's statement of purpose was insufficient. Albeit superficial, 
the Respondents' statement of purpose does indicate that contributions will be used for poiitical purposes, and 
specifically, to influence both sute and local elections. 
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1 amount and that the fonn asks members to affirm that the contribution is "voluntarily 

2 authorize[d]."5' 

3 On its face, the check-off form lacks notice that an individual has the right to refuse to 

4 make a contribution.'^ In addition, although the check-off form states that the 0.75% 

5 contribution is "suggested," it does not provide a member vyith notice that he or she is free to 

6 contribute more or less without favor or disadvantage or the opportunity to contribute an 

7 alternative amount." 

8 The Complaint further states that Local 469 maintained a list of members who do not 

9 contribute to its political committees. The Complaint attaches a list of "PAC NON-

^ 10 CONTRIBUTORS," showing member names, their respective company names and a column 

11 entitled "PAC" for which a zero is filled in for each member.''' Complainant also attaches 

12 pictures of a bulletin board from the union hall where the "PAC NON-CONTRIBUTORS" list 

Resp.at2-3. 

Compare Advisory Op. 2006-17. Contrary to Respondents' assertions, the mere declaration that a 
contribution is "voluntary" does not satisfy the requirement that solicitations provide notice of the right to refuse 
without reprisal. See Conciliation Agreement at IV. 13, MUR S337 (First Consumers Nat'l. Bank) (stating that 
merely including the word "voluntary" once "does not diminish the coercive nature of the solicitations or satisfy the 
requirements of 11 C.F.R. § 114.S(a)(2)-(4)"); Advisory Op. 1998-19 at 11 (Credit Union Nat'l. Ass'n.) C'While the 
brochure states that the contributions are 'voluntary' it does not include a statement that there would be no reprisal 
should the member refuse to contribute. This deficiency would need to be corrected before the brochures could be 
used in the proposed solicitations."); see also Advisory Op. 1988-3 (Pilots Assn.) (requiring SSFs to adhere to 11 
C.F.R. § 114.5 to ensure contributions are voluntary). 

See MUR 5337 (First Consumers Nat'l. Bank) (finding that the solicitation "There are still quite a few 
managers who have not turned in their $50.00 contribution for the Oregon Bank PAC. If you have not done so, Mr. 
Aube would appreciate your contribution check by Friday...." lacked notice that solicitees had right to refuse to 
contribute without reprisal and that the contribution guideline of $50 was merely a suggestion and that the individual 
was free to contribute more or less without favor or disfavor); compare Advisory Op. 2006-17 Ex. I. 

^ Compl. Ex. 5. Emails attached to the Complaint show correspondence from Local business manager and 
committee treasurer Aaron Butler stating that "the Local 469 monthly non-PAC contributor list includes the names 
of members currently working... who have elected to not contribute pursuant to the check-off system provided in 
that collective bargaining agreement." Id. Ex. 6. In a second email responding to Complainant's question of how 
Butler knows the list is accurate, Butler states that "[o]ur list is pulled directly fh>m our internal software each 
month, which insures [sic] accuracy." Id. 
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1 was publicly posted adjacent to another list entitled "EXPELLED MEMBERS."^^ Complainant 

2 asserts that the non-contributors list "has been publicized at union meetings and PAG 

3 presentations for several years" and that he has "personally seen this list publicized at every 

4 monthly meeting and PAG presentation he has attended since September 2014."^® The 

5 Complaint identifies at least one meeting, on August 21,201S, at which counsel and consultant 

^ 6 for the Respondents, Israel Torres, made a verbal solicitation while the non-contributor list was 

^ 7 visible. He claims that Torres discussed the purpose of the PAGs, the PAGs' activities, and the 

4 8 benefits to members, and also encouraged support for the PAGs." 

^ 9 Respondents do not deny maintaining or publicizing a non-contributors list. The Local 

g 10 argues, however, that its list does not contain a solicitation, and that the union therefore does not 

11 coerce contributions by maintaining or posting it.^* Respondents also note that, to the extent that 

12 any member decided to contribute as a result of the list, the member would have to use its payroll 

13 authorization form and would then see the notices included to ensure voluntariness.^^ As 

14 explained above, however, the notices in the authorization form were inadequate. The Response 

15 also does not deny that Torres made verbal solicitations of members on August 21,201S or any 

16 other date while the non-contributor list was visible, but it argues that the information contained 

" Id. Ex. 6. The "EXPELLED MEMBERS" list was also attached to the complaint at Exhibit S. 
" id. at 12. 
" Id. at 16-17. 
" Resp.atS. 
^ Id. In addition, Respondents state that "in an abundance of caution," the Local has since adopted a policy 
of only posting non-contributor lists "with the solicitation notice described by 11 C.F.R. § 114.5." Id at 6, Ex. 2. 
This appears to suggest that the Local has begun posting the "solicitation notice described by 11 C.F.R. § 114.5" on 
the bulletin board alongside its non-contributor list; however, it is not clear what language the Local is using in 
doing so. That is, it is not clear whether the Local has added the language of the regulation itself or some other 
variant. 
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1 in the Complaint shows that he provided adequate notices to satisfy voluntariness requirements.^'* 

2 As explained below, however, the verbal solicitations do not appear to have included complete 

3 disclaimers. 

4 The record evidence indicates that the list was publicized in a space frequently used for 

5 union meetings, including presentations on the activities of Local 469's political committees 

i 6 which encouraged support for the PACs. Further, the record indicates that on at least one 

^ 7 occasion, August 21,2015, such a presentation verbally solicited members to contribute to its 
4 
4 8 political committees, within view of the non-contributor's list and the attached "expelled 

9 members" list.^' According to the Complainant, this presentation was not anomalous, and it 

10 appears likely that other presentations contained similar solicitations. Thus, the Local publicized 

11 the non-contributors list in conjunction with verbal solicitations and an "expelled members" list. 

12 This conduct provides reason to believe the Local made threats that members who did not 

13 respond to the solicitation would be subject to job discrimination or reprisal, or that their 

14 membership in the union would be jeopardized by non-participation. 

15 Although the Complaint acknowledges that the verbal solicitations generally included 

16 statements of the PACs' political purposes,there is no indication that they included statements 

17 that members had the right to refuse to contribute or, to the extent that they discussed the 0.75% 

18 guideline included on the check-off form, that members were free to contribute more or less 

19 without favor or disadvantage. Respondents argue that members responding to the verbal 

20 solicitations would have been directed to the Local's check-off form, which it says provided the 

" Id At 6. 
" • Compl. at 16. 
« Id 
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1 required notices. However, as noted above, the language included in the Local's check-off form 

2 is insufficient to satisfy the requirements of 11 C.F.R. § 114.S(a)(2) and (4). Moreover, even if 

3 the Local has since appended language to the non-contributor list that satisfies the requirements 

4 11 C.F.R. § 114.5(a)(2)-(4), Commission precedent indicates that subsequent corrective action 

5 does not retroactively cure otherwise coercive solicitations.^^ 

I 6 This matter is, therefore, similar to MUR 5337 (First Consumers National Bank) and 

°4 
4 

0 
4 7 MUR 5681 (High Point Regional Association of Realtors), in which the Commission found 

8 reason to believe solicitations were coercive where solicitations lacked complete disclaimers and 

9 the names of non-contributors were published. Accordingly, the Commission finds reason to 

10 believe Local 469 and Arizona Pipe Trades Local 469 and Aaron Butler in his official capacity 

11 as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30118(b)(3)(A), (C) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.5(a)(1), (2) (4), and 

12 (5). 

" See Conciliation Agreement, MUR 5379 (CarePlus Medical Centers). 


